**RECEIVED**

**Aug 14 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2018-CP-40-02545  
Appellate Case No. 2020-000067

---

Dr. Kaoru Pridgen.....Appellant

v.

Colonial Family Practice, LLC, Varsity Family Care Partners, LLC, Family Care Partners d/b/a  
Family Care Partners Management, LLC, Dr. Clay Lowder, Thomas W. Watson, and Dr. Gary R.  
Katz..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

J. Lewis Cromer (#1470)  
Shannon M. Polvi (#101837)  
1418 Laurel Street, Suite A (29201)  
Post Office Box 11675

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. WHETHER SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS IMPROPERLY GRANTED TO DISMISS ALL CLAIMS AGAINST VARSITY FAMILY CARE PARTNERS, LLC?
  
- II. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF CONTRACT ACCOMPANIED BY A FRAUDULENT ACT, NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION, AND PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Dr. Kaoru Pridgen (“Appellant”, “Plaintiff”, “Dr. Pridgen”) filed this lawsuit on May 9, 2019, asserting claims of (1) sex discrimination in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act (“Title VII”), (2) violation of the Equal Pay Act (“EPA”), (3) breach of contract, (4) civil conspiracy, (5) negligent misrepresentation, (6) breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, and (7) promissory estoppel. (*See* R. pp. 60-78; *see also* R. pp. 109-126). Respondents deny these allegations. (*See* R. pp. 79-96; 97-106; 127-136; 137-150; 257-258; 263-264).

Respondent Colonial Family Practice, LLC (“Colonial Family Practice”) is medical practice that employed Dr. Pridgen as a physician. (*See* R. pp. 109-126). Respondent Varsity Family Care Partners, LLC (“Varsity”) is a legal entity legally affiliated and/or legally related to CFP. (*Id.*). Respondent Family Care Partners d/b/a Family Care Partners Management, LLC (“Family Care Partners”) is a legally entity legally affiliated and/or legal related to CFP. (*Id.*). Respondent Dr. Clay Lowder (“Dr. Lowder”) is a physician and a partner actively involved in the management of the practice. (*Id.*). Respondent Thomas W. Watson (“Watson”) was the CEO over the practice. (*Id.*). Respondent Dr. Gary R. Katz (“Dr. Katz”) is a physician and was the Chief Medical Officer over the practice. (*Id.*).

On November 13, 2018, this case was assigned to the Business Court for Richland County and the Honorable Clifton Newman was given exclusive jurisdiction over the case. The Parties engaged in discovery during the later part of 2018 and in 2019.

On July 16, 2019, Colonial Family Practice, Family Care Partners, Dr. Lowder, and Watson (collectively the “Colonial Defendants”) filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 265-283). In summary, the Colonial Defendants sought summary judgment as to claims based on contractual and verbal agreements that Dr. Pridgen would obtain an ownership interest in the

practice. (Id.). On November 15, 2019, the hearing for the Colonial Defendants' Partial Motion for Summary Judgment was scheduled for December 5, 2019. Dr. Pridgen filed a memorandum in opposition to the Colonial Defendants' Motion on December 3, 2019. (R. pp. 342-368).

On August 30, 2019, Varsity filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 316-317). In summary, Varsity sought summary judgment on all claims. (Id.). On November 15, 2019, the hearing for Varsity's Motion for Summary Judgment was scheduled for December 5, 2019. Dr. Pridgen filed a memorandum in opposition to Varsity's Motion on December 3, 2019. (R. pp. 369-398).

A summary judgment hearing was held on December 5, 2019. (R. pp. 153-256). Oral arguments were held in Richland County before Judge Newman. (Id.). Judge Newman took matters under advisement and did not rule on any issues from the bench. (Id.).

On December 20, 2019, the Court issued two Orders. (R. pp. 7-34). The Order granting the Colonial Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was concluded as follows:

1. As to Plaintiff's claims for breach of contract (third cause of action) and breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act (sixth cause of action):
  - a. Summary judgment is granted to FCP Management, Varsity, Lowder, Watson, and Katz, as these defendants are not parties to the Agreement.
  - b. Summary judgment is granted as to Colonial because (i) Plaintiff has no contractual entitlement to an ownership interest in Colonial based on the plain and unambiguous language in Paragraph 15 of Plaintiff's Agreement; (ii) there were no enforceable verbal modifications of the Agreement; and (iii) the alleged promise that Plaintiff would become an owner of Colonial is too indefinite to be enforced.
2. Summary Judgment is granted to Defendants as to Plaintiff's claim for negligent misrepresentation (fifth cause of action) because the underlying representation that Plaintiff would be made an owner of Colonial in the future is merely an unfulfilled promise or statement of future event, which is not enforceable as a matter of law.

3. Summary Judgment is granted as to Plaintiff's claim for promissory estoppel (seventh cause of action) because there were no enforceable verbal agreements or promises that Plaintiff would be made an owner of Colonial.

Plaintiff's claims for gender discrimination in violation of Title VII (first cause of action) against Colonial, FCP Management; violation of the Equal Pay Act (second cause of action) against Colonial, FCP Management; and civil conspiracy (fourth cause of action) against Lowder and Watson, are not addressed by the Colonial Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and are therefore not affected by this Order.

(R. pp. 16-17). In a separate Order, the Court also granted Varsity's Motion for Summary Judgment on December 20, 2019, thereby dismissing Varsity from the case with prejudice. (R. pp. 20-34).

Appellant timely filed her Notice of Appeal on January 16, 2020. This matter is before the Appellate Court upon Dr. Pridgen's appeal of both Orders issued on December 20, 2019.<sup>1</sup>

#### **FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

Dr. Pridgen is a female physician practicing medicine in South Carolina. (R. p. 1224, line 16). Dr. Pridgen had a fully functioning solo practice of medicine for several years prior to her employment with the entity defendants. (R. 1097, line 16 – p. 1098, line 15). Dr. Soto, a physician and partner of the practice, Dr. Lowder, a physician, partner, and manager of the practice, and Lissa Lara ("Lara"), the former CEO of Colonial Family Practice, began soliciting Dr. Pridgen to join Colonial Family Practice in 2012. (R. p. 1892, line 21-p.1893, line 4)<sup>2</sup>, (R. p. 1066, line 12-p.

---

<sup>1</sup> The next day after the December 5, 2019 summary judgment hearing, Defendant Watson filed a Second Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendant Varsity filed a Second Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendant FCP filed a Second Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendant Lowder filed a Second Motion for Summary Judgment, and Defendant CFP filed a Second Motion for Summary Judgment. These numerous dispositive motions are still pending. Contemporaneously with filing her Notice of Appeal, Appellant filed a Motion to Stay the Case on the grounds that many of the issues pending determination in the case could be impacted by this appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals filed January 16, 2020.

<sup>2</sup> Transcript of Dr. Clay Lowder from May 22, 2019.

1070, line 22). In June 2013, Dr. Pridgen merged her practice with Colonial Family Practice after a year of negotiations. (R. p. 1136, lines 3-6). Dr. Pridgen brought a fully functioning practice, with staff, a fulltime patient base, as well as approximately twenty-five thousand dollars' worth of medical equipment. (R. p. 1098, lines 9-21). Dr. Pridgen is the only physician to join the practice with such patients and equipment. (R. p. 1448, line 12 - p. 1450, line 8). The most vital aspect of the negotiations was the ability for Dr. Pridgen to become a partner in Colonial Family Practice, which was specifically promised by Dr. Lowder and Lara, both before and after Dr. Pridgen's contract was signed, as an inducement to Dr. Pridgen's joining the practice. (R. p. 3108; R. p. 1068, lines 3-6; p. 1080, lines 7-14; p. 1088, lines 3-8; p. 1089, lines 18-21; p. 1090 lines 1-7) ["Clay offered me partnership as an enticement for me to bring my practice."]; p. 1092, line 9 - p. 1093, line 18; p. 1096, lines 18-24; p. 1133, lines 3-6). Dr. Lowder and Lara further promised that Dr. Pridgen's opportunity to purchase an ownership interest would be moved up in time and occur at eighteen months of employment. (R. p. 1448, line 12-p. 1450, line 8).

A written agreement for Dr. Pridgen to obtain partnership exists between Dr. Pridgen and Defendants with additional contractual commitments, promises, and actions related to partnership following the execution of the written agreement. (R. p. 2552-2567; see also R. p. 1080, lines 4-6; p. 1099, line 25 - p. 1100, line 10). The agreement between Dr. Pridgen and Defendants, in relevant part, reads as follows:

15. Membership Interest Purchase. , At the end of the thirty-six (36<sup>th</sup>) month of employment, both Employer and Employee agree that consideration will be given to permitting Employee to purchase a membership interest in Colonial Family Practice, LLC ("LLC") at the end of the third (3<sup>rd</sup>) year of employment, or at other such time as agreed to by the parties. If employee desires to become a member of Employer and the member(s) of Employer agree(s), Employee will then acquire a membership interest and this Agreement will be terminated by consent. The purchase price, percentage amount, and

remaining terms of such buy-in and the method of payment shall be determined at the time of buy-in.

(R. pp. 2552-2567).

To date, Dr. Pridgen is not a partner at Colonial Family Practice.<sup>3</sup> All the partners of the practice are male. (R. p. 1800, lines 10-12). Dr. Pridgen observed comparable male doctors, including Dr. Baker, Dr. Soto, and Dr. Stewart, receive partnership with the practice without having to meet additional standards or other criteria after a three-year tenure with the medical practice. (See R. p. 1918, lines 3-5). Dr. Pridgen is<sup>4</sup> paid less than the male partners. (See R. pp. 3104-3107; see also R. pp. 2850-2968; R. pp. 2452-2532; R. pp. 2533-2551; R. pp. 2370-2451).

In January 2016, Dr. Lowder called Dr. Pridgen to inform her that Colonial Family Practice would be merging with Varsity Healthcare Partners an entity operating several medical practices. (R. p. 1112, line 11-p. 1113, line 25). Dr. Lowder assured Dr. Pridgen that she would still become a partner in the practice in a partnership meeting to occur in September 2016 and that there would be no change in her status, including salaries, scheduling, and management. (R. p.1112, line 11-p. 1113, line 25 [“You’re still up for partnership if you want it. Nothing is going to change.”]; R. p. 3103). When Varsity Healthcare Partners and Colonial Family Practice merged legal and financial interests, they also created a holding company called “Family Care Partners.” (R. pp. 3000-3081).

Each of these companies are intertwined. (R. pp. 3000-3081). Varsity received substantial and complex control over the operations of the medical practice as a result of the acquisition and

---

<sup>3</sup> Colonial Family Practice made the decision to exercise its right pursuant to Paragraph 13(c) of the Employment Agreement to waive the remainder of the 90-day notice of termination period and end Dr. Pridgen’s employment immediately on May 1, 2020.

<sup>4</sup> Until May 1, 2020, when Colonial Family Practice terminated the employment contract with Dr. Pridgen.

merger. (R. pp. 3000-3081). Every deponent who has testified in this case has testified to Varsity's control and intertwined nature of the entities. Watson testified that:

A...I wasn't the decision maker. The chief medical officer and the board would have been, not me.

Q. And you were on the board?

A. I was on the board, but I didn't have the controlling voting rights. I could have said whatever I wanted, it wouldn't have mattered.

Q. And who do you consider to have the controlling voting rights?

A. Varsity had controlling voting rights on the board.

(R. p. 1668, line 18 - p.1669, line 2). Dr. Soto, who is one of the partners, testified as follows:

A. When Varsity bought us, we had no say or at least I felt like we had no say, so no.

Q. Have you personally ever sought to take action towards Dr. Pridgen becoming a partner?

A. It wasn't my place to do anything. I couldn't make decisions on anything. I don't think it mattered if I would have done anything.

...

Q: If you're not the decision marker, who do you attribute the decision maker to be with regard to Dr. Pridgen becoming partner?

\*Objections from Defense Counsel

A: The decision makers, I guess at that moment, I can't remember if Tom Watson was still there, which was representing probably Varsity, And -- and the CEO for the Family Care Partners at that time, I would think that he would probably would be the one to make decisions. Honestly, I don't even know who would make decisions. Dave Alpern? I don't know if Dave Alpern had anything to do with it. I don't really honestly don't know. All I -- when we went to the - - to meetings with them, it was informative, it was never to ask me questions, what did I think or, you know, what to do.

Q. And describe for me the meetings that you're referring to in that last response.

A. The meetings were whatever they had a -- meetings for us to come and find out what was happening with the practice.

Q. Who is the "they" that you're referring to in your testimony?

A. I guess whoever was in charge of Family Care Partners at the moment.

Q. Who do you believe was in charge of Family Care Partners at the time of those meetings?

Varsity Objection

A. The Varsity people and Clay Lowder.

(R. p. 2198, line 3 - p. 2200, line 4). Dr. Soto described that the practice was sold to Varsity and that Varsity controlled the business. (R. p. 2200, lines 1-25; p. 2205, lines 1-2; p. 2215, lines 12-19). When asked how he found about that Dr. Baker, a male physician comparator to Dr. Pridgen, was becoming a partner, Dr. Soto answered "That was during the time of Varsity so I guess Varsity announced that they were going to allow him to become a partner, but that's probably all I can tell you."<sup>5</sup> (R. p. 2226, lines 22-25). Dr. Lowder's testimony is much the same. (See R. p. 1781, line 14 - p. 1792, line 23; p. 1825, line 9 - p. 1829, line 19; p. 1841, line 11 - p. 1842, line 24; p. 1844, line 5 - p.1846, line 18). Dr. Lowder described it as follows:

Q. From the transaction with Varsity, what benefit did the partners of Colonial receive?

A. What do you mean "benefit"?

Q. Financial in nature?

A. Yeah. Well, they kind of purchased part of our practice and like -- they purchased like 61 percent of our practice. I'm sorry, they purchased the whole practice, and then we rolled back 39 percent.

---

<sup>5</sup> If the physician partners with an ownership interest in the medical practice do not even know who makes such decisions, it seems unjust that the Court should fault the non-moving party, Dr. Pridgen, for being equally baffled by the legal sheltering the entity defendants created seemingly for financial and legal sheltering purposes. (See R., p. 26).

I'm a doctor so I don't know financial, but they ended up owning 61 percent and we owned 39 percent, the partners did.

(R. p. 1845, lines 15-25).

Q. Which doctor is the most recent that has -- at Colonial that has been designated as a partner?

A. I can't remember which one was last, Dr. Katz or Dr. Baker.

Q. When Dr. Katz and Dr. Baker became partners, was there a vote?

A. I don't remember.

Q. When Dr. Katz and Dr. Baker became partners, who were the decision-makers?

A. I guess the board. I guess Dave Alpern and Tom Watson and the board.

Q. And I think you've identified Dave Alpern as the chairman. What was Tom Watson's role at the time of that decision-making?

A. He was the CEO.

Q. Would that be of Varsity?

A. I think he was CEO of Family Care Partners.

(R. p. 1789, lines 2-18).

Varsity also became responsible for the execution of the existing employment contracts for the employees of the medical practice, such as Dr. Pridgen because of section 8.1.4 of the Acquisition Agreement which reads as follows:

Buyer shall be responsible for the payments and benefits to be provided to Continuing Employees in accordance with Section 8.2, and continuation coverage for Continuing Employees in accordance with Section 8.2, as well as any other potential liability relating to any discontinuation of the employment of any Continuing Employee on or after the Closing.

(R. pp. 3000-3081). This is further established in the Management Services Agreement and the Membership Interest Control Agreement effective December 22, 2015. (R. pp. 2591-2849; R. pp. 3082-3092).

Varsity employs a variety of people, each using Varsity email addresses including Dave Alpern (“Alpern”). (R. pp. 3638-3697). Varsity employees include, but are not limited to:

- David Alpern, DA@varsityhealthcarepartners.com;
- Michael Jablon, MJ@varsityhealthcarepartners.com;
- Kenton Rosenberry, KR@varsityhealthcarepartners.com;
- Steven Boyd, SKB@varsityhealthcarepartners.com;
- Narissa Reed, NR@varsityhealthcarepartners.com; and
- Amy Maser, AM@varsityhealthcarepartners.com.

(R. pp. 3638-3697). Varsity made publications describing the history and credentials of their employees. (Id.).

Alpern exchanged emails with Dr. Lowder, Watson, and Dr. Katz in which Alpern gave specific instructions for the action to be taken by the medical practice in regard to granting Dr. Baker an opportunity to purchase partnership. (R. pp. 2568-2590; pp. 3722-3799). Alpern, a Varsity employee, made specific statements about who Varsity would and would not permit to purchase partnership including “equity is reserved for our key players who are both productive in dollar collections and ‘influencers.’” (R. p. 3726). Alpern also stated that the issue of whether or not an M.D. would be granted an opportunity to purchase partnership was a problem that “we [Varsity] can solve.” (R. p. 3728). Varsity also maintained records related to Dr. Pridgen’s employment. (R. p. 3666; p. 3670). Varsity further sought to employ doctors, such as Dr. Pridgen, as it maintained documents related to its “recruitment” and “acquisition” of other doctors. (R. pp. 3676-3696).

In March 2016, Dr. Pridgen met with Tom Watson, the former Chief Executive Officer of Family Care Partners. (R. p. 1118, line 25 - p. 1120, line 7). Watson has also self-identified as a

Varsity employee on his professional LinkedIn profile page. (R. pp. 3113-3622). Dr. Pridgen explained to Watson that she would like to start the buy-in process for partnership in order to be become a full partner by September 2016. (R. p. 1118, line 25 - p. 1120, line 7). Watson told her that he needed an additional month to discuss it with the proper parties to make that decision. (R. p. 1118, line 25 - p. 1120, line 7). At the same time, Defendants had begun to develop a scheme designed to create shifting patient per month requirements to block Dr. Pridgen's opportunity to purchase partnership, requirements which have never been imposed on male potential partners. (R. pp. 3722-3799). These requirements were imposed on Dr. Pridgen, yet Dr. Lowder, Dr. Katz, Watson, and Dr. Soto have all confirmed in their testimony that no requirements for partnership have ever been formally confirmed. (See Depositions produced herewith, i.e. R. p. 1554, line 20 - p. 1555, line 4).<sup>6</sup> Even with such shifting requirements, Dr. Pridgen met the arbitrary thresholds imposed on her, with the exception of the month when Dr. Pridgen's multi-week honeymoon took place. (R. pp. 2969-2983).<sup>7</sup> In April 2016, Dr. Pridgen followed up with Watson and Dr. Lowder, reiterating her desire that the promises for partnership be fulfilled. (R. p. 1119, line 20-p.1120, line 7; p. 3103).

---

<sup>6</sup> Q. And what barriers, if any, were there to Dr. Pridgen becoming a partner?

A. Well, so the first was, I think, when she and I talked, she was not at the membership, you know, the most basic thing, she wasn't hitting the -- the patient count per month, which was not necessarily all that well defined either. That was sort of in flux. Somewhere around the 500 level. But I think we were trying to set it higher than that.

<sup>7</sup> May 2016 - 648 visits, June 2016 - 701 visits, July 2016 - 635 visits, August 2016 - 646 visits, September 2016 - 339 visits (honeymoon), October 2016 - 635 visits, November 2016 - 621 visits, December 2016 - 650 visits, January 2017 - 811 visits, February 2017 - 665 visits, March 2017 - 1015 visits, April 2017 - 782 visits, May 2017 - 781 visits, June 2017 - 765 visits, July 2017 - 630 visits.

On July 22, 2016, Dr. Pridgen again met with Watson. (R. p. 1121, lines 19-22). There are several key points in the recording between Watson and Dr. Pridgen on July 16, 2016. The following are key points of the promises made to Dr. Pridgen during the recording:

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