THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Civil Action No. 2018-CP-40-02545  
Appellate Case No. 2020-000067

---

Dr. Kaoru Pridgen,

Appellant,

v.

Colonial Family Practice, LLC,  
Varsity Family Care Partners, LLC,  
Family Care Partners d/b/a  
Family Care Partners Management,  
LLC, Dr. Clay Lowder, Thomas  
W. Watson, and Dr. Gary R. Katz

**RECEIVED**  
AUG 18 2020  
SC Court of Appeals  
Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT VARSITY FAMILY CARE PARTNERS, LLC**

---

August 13, 2020

Jeffrey A. Lehrer (SC Bar No. 16687)  
FORD & HARRISON LLP

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING ALL CLAIMS AGAINST VARSITY FAMILY CARE PARTNERS, LLC?<sup>1</sup>

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 9, 2018,<sup>2</sup> Appellant filed this civil action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas, asserting the following claims against Respondent Varsity Family Care Partners, LLC (“Varsity”): (i) gender discrimination in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, *et seq.* (“Title VII”); (ii) violation of the Equal Pay Act of 1963, 29 U.S.C. §§ 206, *et seq.* (“EPA”), (iii) breach of contract, (iv) breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, and (v) promissory estoppel. (R. p. 60).<sup>3</sup> Appellant alleges she was denied an ownership interest in a medical practice based on her gender and in violation of a written contract and alleged verbal promises. Upon Respondents’ motion, the case was transferred to the South Carolina Business Court. The complaint was amended on March 14, 2019.<sup>4</sup> (R. p. 109).

After almost a year of extensive discovery, Respondents Colonial Family Practice, LLC (“Colonial”), Family Care Partners d/b/a Family Care Partners Management, LLC (“Family Care Partners”), Dr. Clay Lowder (“Lowder”), and Thomas W. Watson (“Watson”) (collectively the “Colonial Respondents”) filed a motion for partial summary judgment seeking dismissal of

---

<sup>1</sup> With regard to Appellant’s second issue on appeal, Varsity incorporates and adopts the arguments contained in the Initial Brief of Respondents Colonial Family Practice, LLC, Family Care Partners d/b/a Family Care Partners Management, LLC, Dr. Clay Lowder, and Thomas W. Watson.

<sup>2</sup> Appellant’s Initial Brief contains a typographical error stating the date of filing was May 9, 2019. (Appellant’s Initial Brief at p. 2.)

<sup>3</sup> Appellant asserted additional claims against other Respondents.

<sup>4</sup> The only change was the substitution of Varsity Family Care Partners, LLC for previously named defendants Varsity Healthcare Partners d/b/a Varsity Healthcare Partners UGP II, LLC, Varsity Healthcare Partners GP II, LP, Varsity Healthcare Partners II, LP, Varsity Healthcare Partners, II-A, LP.

Appellant's claims for breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, negligent misrepresentation, and promissory estoppel. (R. p. 265). These claims are also not properly asserted against Varsity for the reasons outlined in that motion. On August 30, 2019, Varsity filed a separate motion for summary judgment, seeking dismissal of all claims Appellant filed against it. (R. p. 316). Varsity's motion asserted that there was no evidence that it exercised any of the requisite control over Appellant's employment or partnership and produced substantial evidence that it was simply an investor entity. (*See id.*). Following a hearing on December 5, 2019, the lower court granted Varsity's motion and Colonial Respondents' motion on December 20, 2019. (R. p. 153; R. p. 7).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCF.” *Bluestein v. Town of Sullivan's Island*, 429 S.C. 458, 462, 839 S.E.2d 879, 881 (S.C. 2020) (quoting *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 121–22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (S.C. 2011)). “Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” *Id.* (quoting *Turner*, 392 S.C. at 122, 708 S.E.2d at 769). “When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Id.*

However, “a court cannot ignore facts unfavorable to [the nonmovant], and it must determine whether a verdict for that party would be reasonably possible under the facts.” *Bloom v. Ravoir*, 339 S.C. 417, 423 529 S.E.2d 710, 713 (S.C. 2000) (quoting *Hopson v. Clary*, 321 S.C. 312, 314, 468 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 1996)). The party opposing summary judgment can also not rely on mere speculation and conjecture. *McKnight v. S.C. Dep't of Corrs.*, 385 S.C. 380, 390,

684 S.E.2d 566, 571 (Ct. App. 2009). “[I]dle speculation, which has no basis in the record, is clearly insufficient to overcome” summary judgment, and a party “cannot create a genuine issue of material fact through mere speculation or the building of one inference upon another.” *Richland-Lexington Airport Dist. v. Atlas Properties, Inc.*, 854 F. Supp. 400, 424 (D.S.C. 1994). Finally, a court cannot properly deny a motion for summary judgment “after only finding that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to one element of the plaintiff’s claim; rather, ... the court must determine that a genuine issue of material fact exists for each essential element of the plaintiff’s claim.” *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 358, 650 S.E.2d 68, 71 (S.C. 2007).

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The lower court correctly stated the facts of this case as they relate to Varsity. Appellant’s Initial Brief makes the same misstatements of fact related to Varsity that were made to the lower court. The lower court properly rejected Appellant’s misstatements of fact, ruled that they were not supported by the undisputed evidence in the record, and/or properly ruled that these alleged facts were not sufficient to overcome summary judgment. Appellant’s misstatements of fact related to Varsity include the following:

**1. Appellant does not properly cite the corporate and legal status of Varsity and its limited relationship to the case solely as an investor entity.**

Appellant alleges that Varsity is a legal entity legally affiliated and/or legally related to Colonial. (Appellant’s Initial Brief p. 2.) Appellant alleges that Colonial merged with Varsity. (*Id.* p. 6.) Appellant alleges that Varsity controlled the operation. (*Id.* at 7) Appellant’s claims against Varsity are based on a complete misunderstanding of the actual corporate structure.

Colonial is a medical practice that employed Appellant starting in approximately May 2013. (R. p. 567.) In December of 2015, Colonial sold its practice as part of a complex business transaction (the “Transaction”). (R. p. 0736.) Varsity is a Special Purpose Vehicle (“SPV”) that was created to house the investment in Family Care Partners Holdings (“FCPH”), which itself owned Respondent FCPM. (*Id.*) As part of the Transaction, FCPM entered into a Management Services Agreement (“MSA”) with Colonial. (*Id.*)

After the Transaction was completed, Varsity was the majority investor in FCPH, and FCPH itself owned FCPM, which entered into a Management Services Agreement with Colonial. (*Id.*)

The evidence shows that Varsity at all times acted solely as an investor entity. (*Id.* at ¶ 4.) As part of the Transaction, FCPH was formed, and it established an Operating Agreement. (*Id.* at ¶ 5.) The Operating Agreement established a Board of Directors of FCPH. (*Id.*) The Operating Agreement provided that the Board of Directors managed FCPH and had full, exclusive, and complete discretion to manage and control the business and affairs of FCPH. (*Id.*) The FCPH Board of Directors could consist of up to seven directors who were designated as follows: (i) up to four directors designated by Varsity (the “Preferred Directors”); (ii) Dr. Lowder; (iii) one Director which may be designated by the Preferred Directors so long as such Director is an “Independent Director”; and (iv) the Chief Executive Officer of FCPH. (R. p. 0773.)

After the Transaction, Partnership was only available in FCPH. (R. p. 0736.) The Board of FCPH had the exclusive authority to vote on partnership issues. (*Id.*) After the Transaction, Appellant was informed that partnership opportunities would only be through FCPH. (R. p. 1344.)

The indisputable evidence establishes a corporate and management structure that did not include Varsity having control over Appellant’s employment or partnership decisions.

**2. None of the witnesses, not even Appellant, testified to Varsity being in control of Appellant's employment or partnership.**

Appellant falsely states that every deponent who testified in this case testified as to Varsity's control. (Appellant's Initial Brief p. 7-8.) Appellant continues to completely misrepresent the record on this issue and conveniently fails to cite relevant portions of the testimony. The lower court properly recognized and rejected these misrepresentations. Appellant cites the testimony of Dr. Soto and his use of the word "Varsity" as her evidence on this issue. (*Id.*) This is a complete misrepresentation of the testimony in this case. Dr. Soto's deposition actually confirms that Varsity had no involvement.

According to Dr. Soto, Varsity was the initial purchaser in the Transaction and after the Transaction, FCPH was created to manage the organization. (R. p. 2277.) Dr. Soto admitted that the Transaction structure was complicated and that he often referred to separate entities such as Family Care Partners Holdings as "Varsity" solely for ease of reference. (*Id.* R. p. 2277- 2278.) He confirmed that Tom Watson and Dr. Katz acted on behalf of FCPH, not Varsity. (*Id.* R. p. 2278-2279.) Communications from these individuals was not on behalf of Varsity. (*Id.* at R. p. 2279.) He confirmed that the FCPH Board was the only entity authorized to decide partnership issues and that no Varsity representative ever interfered with any partnership decision. (*Id.* R. pp. 2279-2282.) He confirmed that when he referred to Varsity, he was really referring to Family Care Partners Holdings. (*Id.* R. pp. 2281-2282.) Clearly, Appellant's attempt to misuse and mislead this Court and the lower court related to Dr. Soto's testimony is improper and should be rejected.

In addition, and contrary to Appellant's Statement of Facts, every other deponent actually testified consistent with the fact that Varsity did not engage in any actions related to Appellant or her request for partnership:

- a. Dr. Gary Katz. Dr. Katz has provided sworn testimony that the Family Care Partners Board of Directors (“FCPH Board”) was the only entity authorized to decide partnership issues and that no FCPH Board member acted outside the scope of their capacity as FCPH Board members. (R. p. 0899.)
- b. Dr. Clay Lowder. Dr. Lowder has provided sworn testimony that the FCPH Board was the only entity authorized to decide partnership issues and that no FCPH Board member acted outside the scope of their capacity as FCPH Board members. (R. p. 1949-1951.) He confirmed that Dave Alpern only acted through his role as the Chairman of the FCPH Board. (*Id.*)
- c. Tom Watson. Mr. Watson has provided sworn testimony that FCPH Board was the only entity authorized to decide partnership issues and that no FCPH Board member acted outside the scope of their capacity as FCPH Board members. (R. pp. 1749-1750.) Mr. Watson also confirmed that he and others referred to the FCPH Board as Varsity for ease of reference only. (R. pp. 1744-1745.) He confirmed that Varsity was a separate legal entity and was treated as such. (*Id.*) Mr. Watson was an officer of FCPH, not Varsity. (*Id.* at R. p. 1746.)  
  
Mr. Watson confirmed that the FCPH Board had full, exclusive and complete discretion to manage and control the business and affairs of the company, not Varsity. (*Id.* at R. pp. 1746-1747.) He confirmed that no FCPH Board member ever acted outside their authority or their capacity as FCPH Board members. Tom Watson confirmed that Dave Alpern only acted in his capacity as the FCPH Board Chairman of the Board. (*Id.* at R.

pp. 1747-1748.) Varsity had no authority to act as it related to FCPH Board decisions. This was totally controlled by the FCPH Operating Agreement which gave full control to the FCPH Board. (*Id.* at R. p. 1748.)

There is no evidence in this case that any FCPH official acted outside the scope of their authority as officers or board members in the control of FCPH and in the control over partnership in FCPH. (R. pp. 1359-1364; R. pp. 1950-1952; R. p. 0736; R. p. 0899.) Multiple witnesses have confirmed that no FCPH official or representative acted outside the scope of their official authority. (*Id.*) While the individuals Varsity designated on the FCPH Board may have had majority control over issues that did not require a unanimous decision, there was “NEVER” a contested FCPH Board vote. (R. p. 1749) There is no evidence that any individual acted in an official capacity for Varsity as it related to Appellant.

Appellant herself admits that when she heard the reference to “Varsity”, she did not know what specific business entity was being referenced. (R. pp. 1336-1338.) Appellant cannot herself contest Varsity’s position in this case because she admits that she has never had any conversations with any Varsity representative about her alleged contract, employment or potential partnership. (R. pp. 1360-1364.) Appellant admits that she does not know which legal entities were involved in decisions related to her partnership. (*Id.* at R. p. 1336.) Further, Appellant did not depose *any* Varsity representative in this case. No other witnesses have contested Varsity’s position that it is not a proper party and that it has not exerted control or been involved in any decisions related to Appellant.

**3. Varsity was not responsible for Appellant’s contract.**

Appellant states that Varsity became responsible for Appellant’s existing employment contract solely based on the references to “Continuing Employees” in the Acquisition Agreement.

(Appellant's Initial Brief p. 9.) Appellant again completely misstates the record and misuses the clear definition of "Continuing Employees" to attempt to support her claims. The lower court properly recognized and rejected this attempt.

As part of the December 2015 Transaction, an Acquisition Agreement was entered into between Colonial, Varsity and FCPH. (R. pp. 3000-3070.) Section 8.1.4 of this Acquisition Agreement reads as follows:

Buyer shall be responsible for the payments and benefits to be provided to Continuing Employees in accordance with Section 8.2, and continuation coverage for Continuing Employees in accordance with Section 8.2, as well as any other potential liability relating to any discontinuation of the employment of any Continuing Employee on or after the Closing.

(*Id.*)

Paragraph 8.1.2 of the same Acquisition Agreement defines "Continuing Employees" as "Non-Practitioner Employees", and Section 8.1 defines "Non-Practitioner Employees" as employees who are not Healthcare Providers. (*Id.* R. p. 3037.) It is not disputed that Appellant was a healthcare provider and, therefore, was not considered a "Continuing Employee." (R. p. 2552.) Appellant is also not included in Schedule 8.1 of this Acquisition Agreement, which lists all of the "Continuing Employees" to whom Section 8.1.4 applies. (R. pp. 1025-1032.) Therefore, Appellant's reliance on Section 8.1.4 of the Acquisition is simply misplaced.

After the December 2015 Transaction, Appellant and other physician-employees remained employees of Colonial. (R. pp. 1949-1950.) It is not disputed that Appellant was at all times relevant to this case employed by Colonial.

#### **4. Varsity did not have any employees.**

Appellant states that Varsity employs a variety of people, each using Varsity email addresses including Alpern. (Appellant's Initial Brief p. 10.) Appellant also states that several

FCPH Board members have e-mail addresses that contain the word Varsity, and that former FCPH CEO Tom Watson self-identified as a Varsity employee on his professional LinkedIn profile page. (*Id.* p. 10-11.) This statement is in spite of the fact that the common e-mail domain Appellant cites is “varsityhealthcarepartners” and not the name of Respondent Varsity Family Care Partners, LLC. Watson also admitted in his deposition that he was employed by FCPH and not Varsity, despite the legally incorrect reference on his LinkedIn page. (R. p. 1746) Again, Varsity is an SPV investment entity that employs no individuals. (R. p. 0736.) Appellant’s only alleged evidence to dispute any of these facts is the general reference to the word Varsity (which the witnesses confirmed was solely for ease of reference), rather than the correct legal entities.

**5. Varsity was not involved in the partnership offers to Baker and Katz.**

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